TGEGKXGF.'714: 14235'3745-56."Vj qo cu'F0J cm'Engtm'Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC12-2315

PEGUY DELVA

Petitioner/Plaintiff,

vs.

THE CONTINENTAL GROUP, INC.

Respondent/Defendant.

On Appeal from the District Court of Appeal of The State of Florida Third District DCA CASE NO.: 3D11-2964

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER-PLAINTIFF PEGUY DELVA

Travis R. Hollifield, Esq. Florida Bar No. 94420 HOLLIFIELD LEGAL CENTRE 147 East Lyman Avenue - Suite C Winter Park, Florida 32789 Tel.: (407) 599-9590 Fax: (407) 599-9591 E-mail: trh@trhlaw.com

Counsel for Petitioner-Plaintiff

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT4
I. THE FCRA PROHIBITS PREGNANCY DISCRIMINATION AS A FORM OF SEX DISCRIMINATION4
A. Rules of Statutory Construction7
B. Historical overview of federal and Florida statutory protection against sex and pregnancy discrimination
C. A review of Title VII opinions including the <u>Gilbert</u> decision
D. Post- <u>Gilbert</u> and pre-PDA jurisprudence between 1976-1978 clarifies holding of <u>Gilbert</u> 16
E. The <u>Satty</u> decision19
F. The PDA25

|--|

G. Extrajurisdictional jurisprudence28
H. The First DCA's <u>O'Loughlin v. Pinchback</u>
I. How the <u>O'Loughlin</u> confusion first began
J. Many Courts, including <u>Carsillo</u> , have properly understood the ruling in <u>O'Loughlin</u> and held that state statutes like the FCRA are to be construed in the same manner as federal statutes like Title VII
K. Courts have relied on <u>O'Loughlin</u> or both <u>O'Loughlin</u> and <u>Carsillo</u> and expressly held that the FCRA provides employees with statutory protection from pregnancy discrimination40
L. At the time of the FCRA's enactment in 1992, the Florida legislature was aware that the <u>O'Loughlin</u> court permitted a claim for pregnancy discrimination under state law41
M. The Second DCA's <u>Carter v. Health Management Associates</u> provides additional insight43
II. CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>CASES</u>

Absher v. City of Alachua, Florida,
Case No.: 1:05-cv-00069-MP-AK, Doc. 115 at pg. 22
(N.D. Fla. 2007)40,41
<u>Albermarle Paper Co. v. Moody</u> ,
422 U.S. 405, 425 (1975)13
Andujar v. National Property and Casualty Underwriters,
659 So.2d 1214, 1216-1217 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995)
Armstrong v. Flowers Hospital,
33 F.3d 1308, 1312 (11 th Cir. 1994)26
AT&T Corp. v. Hulteen,
129 S.Ct. 1962, 1970 at n. 4 (2009)27
Bailey v. Centennial Employee Mgmt. Corp.,
FCHR Order No. 02-027 (Fla. Comm'n on Human Relations
May 31, 2002)44
Berg v. Transcontinental Title Company,
Case No.: 3:00-cv-01228-UA, Doc. 89 (M.D. Fla. 2003)
Bionetics Corp. v. Kenniasty,
69 So.3d 943, 947 (Fla. 2011)
Brennan v. National Telephone Directory,
850 F.Supp. 331, 343 (E.D. Pa. 1994)
Brewer v. LCM Medical, Inc.,
2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 96865 (S.D. Fla. 2006)41
Carney v. Martin Luther Home, Inc.,
824 F.2d 643, 646 (8 th Cir. 1987)25
Carsillo v. City of Lake Worth,
995 So.2d 1118 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008) rev. denied City of Lake
Worth v. Carsillo, 20 So.3d 848 (Fla. 2009)2, 3, 4, 6, 38, 40, 45, 46
Carter v. Health Management Associates,
989 So.2d 1258 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2008)
Cerra v. East Stroudsburg School District,
299 A.2d 277, 280 (Pa. 1973)

<u>Cleveland Board of Education v. LaFleur,</u>
414 U.S. 632 (1974)15, 16, 17, 24, 26
Colorado Civil Rights Commission v. Travelers Insurance Co.,
759 P.2d 1358, 1361-1365, 1369 (Colo. 1988)
Communication Workers v. American Tel. & Tel. Co., Long Lines Dep't,
513 F.2d 1024 (2nd Cir. 1975), vacated, 429 U.S. 1033 (1977)11
Constable v. Agilysys, Inc.,
2011 WL 2446605 *6 (M.D. Fla. 2011)
Delva v. The Continental Group, Inc.,
96 So.3d 956 (3rd DCA 2012)2, 4, 6, 12, 35, 38, 46
Donato v. Am. Tel. Tel. Co.,
767 So.2d 1146, 1153 (Fla.2000)43
Feliciano v. School Board of Palm Beach County,
776 So.2d 306, 307 (Fla. 4 th DCA 2000)41
Fernandez v. Copperleaf Golf Club Community Ass'n,
2005 WL 2277591 (M.D. Fla. 2005)
Fields v. Laboratory Corporation of America,
2003 WL 25544257 *3 FN2 (S.D. Fla. 2003)41
In re Fierro,
2007 WL 1113257 *3 (M.D. Fla. 2007)40
Fla. Dep't of Revenue v. Fla. Mun. Power Agency,
789 So.2d 320, 323 (Fla.2001)43
Frazier v. T-Mobile USA, Inc.,
2003 WL 25568332 (M.D. Fla. 2003)
Fuller v. Progressive American Insurance Company,
1989 WL 644301 *7 at para. 27 (Fla.Div.Admin.Hrgs. 1989)37
Ganzy v. Allen Christian School,
995 F.Supp. 340, 350-361 (E.D.N.Y. 1998)
<u>Gay v. Canada Dry Bottling Co. of Florida.</u>
59 So.2d 788 (Fla. 1952)7
Geduldig v. Aiello,
417 U.S. 484, 496-497 n. 20 (1974)14, 16, 17, 22, 24, 26
General Elec. Co. v. Gilbert,
429 U.S. 125 (1976)passim
<u>Gilbert v. General Elec. Co.,</u>
519 F.2d 661 (4th Cir. 1975), reversed, 429 U.S. 125 (1976)11

Page
Golf Channel v. Jenkins,
752 So.2d 561, 566 (Fla. 2000)7
Gorman v. Wells Manufacturing Corp.,
209 F.Supp.2d 970, 979-980 (S.D. Iowa 2002)33
Gray v. Kinseth Corp.,
636 N.W.2d 100, 103 (Iowa 2001)32
Greenfield v. City of Miami Beach,
844 F. Supp. 1519, 1524 n. 1 (S.D. Fla. 1992)
<u>Griggs v. Duke Power Co.,</u>
401 U.S. 424, 431, 91 S.Ct. 849, 854, 28 L.Ed.2d 158 (1971)21, 26, 27
Gulfstream Park Racing Assn., Inc. v. Dept. of Bus. Regulation,
441 So.2d 627, 629 (Fla. 1983)42
Holland v. Courtesy Corporation,
563 So.2d 787 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990)39
Holland v. Gee,
677 F.3d 1047, 1054 n. 1 (11th Cir. 2012)40
Hutchison v. Lake Oswego School Dist.,
519 F.2d 961 (9th Cir. 1975), vacated, 429 U.S. 1033 (1977)11
Jolley v. Phillips Education Group of Central Florida, Inc.,
1996 WL 529202 *6 (M.D. Fla.1996)41
Jones v. Department of Civil Service,
301 N.W.2d 12 (Mich. App. 1980)
Jones v. United Space Alliance, LLC,
494 F.3d 1306, 1310 (11th Cir. 2007)40
Joshua v. City of Gainesville,
768 So.2d 432, 435 (Fla. 2000)7
Kelly v. K.D. Construction of Florida, Inc.,
866 F.Supp. 1406, 1411 (S.D. Fla. 1994)41
Lapeyronni v. Dimitri Eye Center, Inc.,
693 So.2d 236, 238 (La. App. 4 th Cir. 1997)32
Leahey v. Singer Sewing Co.,
694 A.2d 609, 615-616 (N.J. Law Div. 1996)
Levelly v. E.B & A.C. Whiting Co.,
692 A.2d 367, 369-373 (Vt. 1997)
Mangin v. Westco Security Systems,
922 F.Supp. 563, 567 (M.D. Fla. 1996)

Page
Massachusetts Electric Company v. Massachusetts Commission
Against Discrimination,
375 N.E.2d 1192 (Mass. 1978)
Massey v. University of Florida,
570 So.2d 967 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990)
McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green,
411 U.S. 792, 802 (1973)
McMurray v. Hilton Hotels Corporation,
Case No.: 04-22059-cv-COOKE/McALILEY, pgs. 2-3 (S.D. Fla. 2005)41
Midstate Oil Co. v. Missouri Commission on Human Rights,
679 S.W.2d 842, 846 (Mo. 1984)
Minnesota Mining & Manufacturing Co. v. State,
289 N.W.2d 396, 398-401 (Minn. 1979)32
Mountain States Telephone v. Commissioner of Labor,
608 P.2d 1047, 1055-1058 (Mont. 1980)32
Nashville Gas Company v. Satty,
434 U.S. 136 (1977)11, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 26, 27, 28
In re: National Airlines, Inc.,
434 F.Supp. 249 (S.D. Fla. 1977)16, 17, 18
Newport News Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Co. v. EEOC,
462 U.S. 669 (1983)13, 15
<u>O'Loughlin v. Pinchback,</u>
579 So.2d 788 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)passim
Parr v. Cedar Rapids Community School District,
227 N.W.2d 486, 492-497 (Iowa 1975)31
Pidd v. City of Jacksonville,
97 Fla. 297, 120 So. 556 (1929)
Pinchback v. St. Johns County Sheriff's Dep't,
7 F.A.L.R. 5369, 5371 (Fla. Comm'n on Human Relations 1985)44
Quaker Oats Co. v. Cedar Rapids Human Rights Commission,
268 N.W. 2d 862, 864-867 (Iowa 1978)32
Ray-O-Vac v. Wisconsin Department of Industry,
236 N.W.2d 209, 215-217 (Wis. 1975)
Richmond Unified School District v. Berg,
434 U.S. 158 (1977)

Page
Rosales v. Keyes Company,
2007 WL 29245 *4 (S.D. Fla. 2007)
Rose v. Commercial Truck Terminal, Inc.,
2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 75409 (M.D. Fla. 2007)41
Satty v. Nashville Gas Co.,
522 F.2d 850 (6th Cir. 1975), vacated in part, 434 U.S. 136 (1977)11
Schmermund v. Hygroponics, Inc.,
3 F.A.L.R. 2210-A, 2211-A (Fla. Comm'n on Human Relations 1981)44
Selkow v. 7-Eleven, Inc.,
2012 WL 2054872 *n. 1 (M.D. Fla. 2012)
Solomen v. Redwood Advisory Co.,
183 F.Supp.2d 748 (E.D. Pa. 2002)
Spagnoli v. Brown & Brown Metro, Inc.,
2007 WL 2362602 *7 (D.N.J. 2007)
State v. Egan,
287 So.2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1973)7
State v. Jackson,
650 So.2d 24, 27 (Fla. 1995)
Swiney v. Lazy Days RV Center, Inc.,
2000 WL 1392101 (M.D. Fla. 2000)
<u>Terry v. Real Talent, Inc.</u> ,
2009 WL 3494476 *2 (M.D. Fla. 2009)40
Torres v. Sweet Tomatoes Rest.,
23 F.A.L.R. 3383 (Fla. Comm'n on Human Relations 2001)44
<u>Tyler v. Vickery,</u>
517 F.2d 1089 (5th Cir. 1975), cert. denied, 426 U.S. 940 (1976)11
Valentine v. Legendary Marine FWB, Inc.,
2010 WL 1687738 *4 (N.D. Fla. 2010)40
Wesley-Parker v. The Keiser School, Inc.,
2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 96870 (M.D. Fla. 2006)41
Westrich v. Diocese of St. Petersburg, Inc.,
2006 WL 1281089 (M.D. Fla. 2006)
Wetzel v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co.,
511 F.2d 199 (3d Cir. 1975), vacated, 424 U.S. 737 (1976)11
Woodham v. Blue Cross Blue Shield of Florida,
829 So.2d 891, 894 (Fla. 2002)7

Page
Wright v. Sandestin Investments, LLC,
2012 WL 6194872 *6 (N.D. Fla. 2012)40
Wynn v. Florida Automotive Services, LLC,
2012 4815688 *1-2 (M.D. Fla. 2012)40
Statutes
Title VII of the federal Civil Rights Act,
42 U.S.C. §2000e et seq passim
42 U.S.C. §2000e-2 passim
42 U.S.C. §2000e-(k)
§760.01 et seq., Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992passim
§760.10, Fla. Stat5
<u>G.L. c. 151B, s 4</u> , Massachusetts civil rights statute
Laws 1969, ch. 69-287 §§ 1-5, 7, Florida Human Relations Actpassim
Laws 1972, ch. 72-48 at §§ 1-3, 1972 Florida Human Relations Act amendment10
Laws 1977, ch. 77-341, The Human Rights Act of 1977passim

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 at <u>Fla. Stat.</u> § 760.01, *et seq.*, ("FCRA") prohibits pregnancy discrimination as a form of sex discrimination.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of a pregnancy discrimination lawsuit filed on August 30, 2011 by Peguy Delva ("Petitioner") against her former employer The Continental Group, Inc. ("Respondent") in Miami-Dade Circuit Court. (R-1). Petitioner, a front desk manager who worked at a residential property managed by Respondent, alleged that Respondent, after being told by Petitioner that she was pregnant, negatively impacted the terms and conditions of her employment. The Respondent's actions included engaging in heightened critical scrutiny of Petitioner's work and refusing to allow her to change shifts based on her pregnancy-related medical needs. Respondent also violated its own company policy by refusing to allow her to cover other worker's shifts to earn extra money. Finally, Respondent refused to schedule Petitioner for work after she returned from a maternity leave period while similarly situated male employees were treated more favorably by being permitted to return to work from non-pregnancy related medical leave. Petitioner alleged that these adverse employment actions were taken by Respondent due to her pregnancy in violation of the prohibition against sex discrimination in the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 at Fla. Stat. § 760.01, et seq., ("FCRA").

1

On September 21, 2011, Respondent moved to dismiss Petitioner's Complaint arguing that pregnancy discrimination is not prohibited by the FCRA. The Miami-Dade Circuit Court conducted a hearing on the issue on November 9, 2011 and granted the motion to dismiss with prejudice.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal to the Third District Court of Appeal. The Third DCA rendered its opinion in <u>Delva v. The Continental Group</u>, <u>Inc.</u> on July 25, 2012 affirming the trial court's decision, adopting the holding and decision of <u>O'Loughlin v. Pinchback</u>, 579 So.2d 788 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), and certifying conflict with <u>Carsillo v. City of Lake Worth</u>, 995 So.2d 1118 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008) *rev. denied* <u>City of Lake Worth v. Carsillo</u>, 20 So.3d 848 (Fla. 2009). The Third DCA ruled that the FCRA does not prohibit pregnancy discrimination.

Petitioner submitted a Motion for Rehearing on August 6, 2012 which was denied by the Third DCA on September 18, 2012.

Petitioner filed her Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction in this Court on October 15, 2012. This Court accepted jurisdiction on May 2, 2013.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case presents a pure question of law concerning whether the FCRA prohibits pregnancy discrimination as a form of sex discrimination. The standard of review for pure questions of law is *de novo* and no deference is given to the

2

judgment of the lower courts. <u>Bionetics Corp. v. Kenniasty</u>, 69 So.3d 943, 947 (Fla. 2011).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Florida Supreme Court should construe pregnancy discrimination as a form of sex discrimination under the Florida Civil Rights Act ("FCRA"). The First District Court of Appeal in <u>O'Loughlin v. Pinchback</u>, 579 So.2d 788 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), upheld a lower tribunal's finding of liability against an employer for pregnancy discrimination under state law and correctly determined (albeit using partially faulty reasoning) that a state law like the FCRA's predecessor statute that was modeled after the federal Title VII statute in the area of employment discrimination must be construed in the same manner as federal courts interpret that federal law.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Carsillo v. City of Lake Worth</u>, 995 So.2d 1118 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008), *rev. denied*, <u>City of Lake Worth v. Carsillo</u>, 20 So.3d 848 (Fla. 2009), adopted the holding in <u>O'Loughlin</u> but not its partially faulty reasoning and instead correctly determined that because

- (i) Florida's civil rights statute was modeled after Title VII which has always prohibited pregnancy discrimination as a form of sex discrimination,
- statutory construction principles as per <u>State v. Jackson</u>, 650
 So.2d 24, 27 (Fla. 1995), require that state statutes modeled on federal statutes covering essentially the same subject matter should be given the same construction federal courts

give the federal statute, and

(iii) the FCRA must be liberally construed to preserve and promote access to the remedy intended by the Legislature,

then an aggrieved employee in Florida may advance a claim and sue for the remedies available under the FCRA for pregnancy discrimination. There was, therefore, no need for the Florida Legislature to amend the FCRA to add with word "pregnancy." The few cases to the contrary, including the Third DCA's opinion in this case <u>Delva v. The Continental Group, Inc.</u>, 96 So.3d 956 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2012), either misconstrued the actual holding in <u>O'Loughlin</u> or relied on that opinion's misinterpretation of the U.S. Supreme Court case <u>General Elec. Co. v. Gilbert</u>, 429 U.S. 125 (1976), and <u>O'Loughlin's</u> unusual preemption analysis without taking into consideration the correct statutory construction principles set forth in that case.

The Petitioner here requests that the Florida Supreme Court reverse the holding in the Third DCA's <u>Delva</u> opinion, adopt the holdings in the First DCA's <u>O'Loughlin</u> (but not its faulty "preemption" reasoning and misinterpretation of <u>Gilbert</u>) and the Fourth DCA's <u>Carsillo</u> opinions, and remand this matter for further proceedings below.

ARGUMENT

I. THE FCRA PROHIBITS PREGNANCY DISCRIMINATION AS A FORM OF SEX DISCRIMINATION.

The issue in this case is whether the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 at <u>Fla.</u> <u>Stat.</u> § 760.01, *et seq.*, ("FCRA") prohibits pregnancy discrimination as a form of sex discrimination. Petitioner argues that the FCRA does prohibit pregnancy discrimination for the reasons set forth below.

The FCRA states in pertinent part:

"(2) The general purposes of the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 are to secure for all individuals within the state freedom from discrimination because of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, handicap, or marital status and thereby to protect their interest in personal dignity, to make available to the state their full productive capacities, to secure the state against domestic strife and unrest, to preserve the public safety, health, and general welfare, and to promote the interests, rights, and privileges of individuals within the state.

(3) The Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 shall be construed according to the fair import of its terms and shall be liberally construed to further the general purposes stated in this section and the special purposes of the particular provision involved."¹

Furthermore, the FCRA states:

"(1) It is an unlawful employment practice for an employer:

(a) To discharge or to fail or refuse to hire any individual, or otherwise to discriminate against any individual with respect to compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, because of such individual's race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, handicap, or marital status.

(b) To limit, segregate, or classify employees or applicants for employment in any way which would deprive or tend to deprive any individual of employment opportunities, or adversely affect any individual's status as an employee, because of such individual's race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, handicap, or marital status."²

It is undisputed that the FCRA prohibits discrimination on the basis of

"sex." The FCRA, however, does not mention the word "pregnancy." It is the

¹ <u>Fla. Stat.</u> 760.01 (2012).

² <u>Fla. Stat.</u> 760.10 (2012).

lack of the word "pregnancy" in the statute that underlies the dispute in this case.

Three Florida District Courts of Appeal have considered this issue. <u>O'Loughlin v. Pinchback</u>, 579 So.2d 788 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); <u>Carsillo v. City of</u> <u>Lake Worth</u>, 995 So.2d 1118 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008) *rev. denied* <u>City of Lake Worth</u> <u>v. Carsillo</u>, 20 So.3d 848 (Fla. 2009); and <u>Delva v. The Continental Group</u>, Inc., 96 So.3d 956 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2012).

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