TGEGKXGF.'813914235''44-28-4;.''Vj qo cu'F0J cm'Engtm''Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC12-2315

PEGUY DELVA,

Petitioner/Plaintiff,

vs.

THE CONTINENTAL GROUP, INC.,

Respondent/Defendant.

On Appeal from the District Court of Appeal of the State of Florida Third District

DCA CASE NO. 3D11-2964

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT/DEFENDANT

Andrew L. Rodman, Esq. Florida Bar No. 0192198 Bayardo Aleman, Esq. Florida Bar No. 028791 Stearns Weaver Miller Weissler Alhadeff & Sitterson, P.A. Museum Tower, Suite 2200 150 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130

Counsel for Respondent/Defendant Dated: June 17, 2013

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Employees alleging pregnancy discrimination undeniably have legal recourse against covered employers under *federal* civil rights legislation, Title VII, as amended by the Pregnancy Discrimination Act of 1978 ("PDA"). The question

 $^{^{2}}$ In its Order of Dismissal, the District Court held that "if Delva reasserts the same claim made in this case in a future lawsuit against Continental Group, Delva shall pay to Continental Group its reasonable attorneys' fees and costs incurred in this case to the date of its dismissal." *Id.* at D.E. 8.

for this Court, however, is whether an employee alleging pregnancy discrimination *also* has recourse against a covered employer under *Florida* civil rights legislation, the FCRA. Continental respectfully submits that the answer is no.

This Court has not addressed this issue, but three (3) District Courts of Appeal have addressed this issue: the Third DCA in *Delva*, the Fourth DCA in *Carsillo*, and the First DCA in *O'Loughlin*. The *Delva* and *O'Loughlin* Courts held that pregnancy discrimination is *not* an unlawful employment practice under the FCRA (or its predecessor), and the *Carsillo* Court held that pregnancy discrimination *is* an unlawful employment practice under the FCRA. Lower state courts and federal courts have come out on both sides of this issue.^{3,4}

³ The following courts have held that pregnancy discrimination is not an unlawful employment practice under the FCRA: Whiteman v. Cingular Wireless, No. 04-80389, 2006 WL 6937181 (S.D. Fla. May 4, 2006), aff'd, 273 Fed. Appx. 841 (11th Cir. 2008); Ramjit v. Benco Dental Supply Co., No. 6:12-cv-528-Orl-28DAB, 2013 WL 140238 (M.D. Fla. Jan. 11, 2013); Berrios v. Univ. of Miami, No. 1:11-CIV-22586, 2012 WL 7006397 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 1, 2012); DuChateau v. Camp Dresser & McKee, Inc., 822 F. Supp. 2d 1325 (S.D. Fla. 2011), aff'd on other grounds, 713 F.3d 1298 (11th Cir. 2013); Boone v. Total Renal Lab., 565 F. Supp. 2d 1323 (M.D. Fla. 2008); Sparks v. Southern Commin Servs., No. 3:08cv254 (N.D. Fla. July 8, 2008); Westrich v. Diocese of St. Petersburg, No. 8:06-cv-210-T-30TGW, 2006 U.S. Dist. Lexis 27624 (M.D. Fla. May 9, 2006); Whiteman v. Cingular Wireless, No. 04-80389, 2006 WL 6937181 (S.D. Fla. May 4, 2006); Mullins v. Direct Wireless, No. 6:05-cv-1779, 2006 U.S. Dist. Lexis 18194 (M.D. Fla. Apr. 10, 2006); Fernandez v. Copperleaf Golf Club Cmty. Ass'n, No. 05-286, 2005 WL 2277591 (M.D. Fla. Sept. 19, 2005); Cosner v. Stearns Weaver Miller, et. al., No. 04-60662 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 14, 2005); Dragotto v. Savings Oil Co., No. 8:04-cv-734-T-30TGW, 2004 U.S. Dist. Lexis 30069 (M.D. Fla. June 25, 2004); Frazier v. T-Mobile USA, Inc., 495 F. Supp. 2d 1185 (M.D. Fla. 2003); Orlando v. Bay Dermatology & Cosmetic Surgery, P.A., No. 8:03-cv-

The issue before this Court is a question of pure statutory interpretation. The analysis begins and ends with the plain, unambiguous, common and ordinary meaning of the term "sex." Delva ignores the statutory language and the common and ordinary meaning of the term "sex" for obvious reasons – the statute's plain language is not susceptible to an interpretation of "sex" that encompasses

2203-T-26EAJ (M.D. Fla. Dec. 4, 2003); Amos v. Martin L. Jacob, P.A., No. 02-6174 (S.D. Fla. May 2, 2003); Zemetskus v. Eckerd Corp., No. 8:02-cv-1939-T-27TBM (M.D. Fla. Apr. 1, 2003); Perrin v. Sterling Realty Mgt., No. 3:02-CV-804-J-20HTS (M.D. Fla. Nov. 4, 2002); Monahan v. Moran Foods, No. 8:02-cv-301-26MAP (M.D. Fla. Mar. 25, 2002); Hammons v. Durango Steakhouse, No. 8:01-CV-2165-T-23MAP (M.D. Fla. March 7, 2002); Swiney v. Lazy Days R.V. Ctr., No. 00-1356, 2000 WL 1392101 (M.D. Fla. Aug. 1, 2000); Granera v. Sedano's Supermarket, #31, No. 11-40576CA25 (Fla. 11th Cir. Ct. Nov. 14, 2012).

⁴ The following courts have held that pregnancy discrimination is an unlawful employment practice under the FCRA: Wright v. Sandestin Inv., LLC, No. 3:11cv256 (N.D. Fla. Dec. 12, 2012); Wynn v. Florida Auto. Serv., LLC, No. 3:12cv-133 (M.D. Fla. Oct. 10, 2012); Selkow v. 7-Eleven, No. 8:11-cv-456, 2012 WL 2054872 (M.D. Fla. June 7, 2012); Wims v. Dolgencorp, LLC, No. 4:12cv199 (N.D. Fla. June 7, 2012); Constable v. Agilysys, Inc., No. 8:10-cv-01778, 2011 WL 2446605 (M.D. Fla. June 15, 2011); Valentine v. Legendary Marine FWB, No. 3:09cv334, 2010 WL 1687738 (N.D. Fla. Apr. 26, 2010); Rose v. Commercial Truck Term., No. 8:06-cv-901, 2007 U.S. Dist. Lexis 75409 (M.D. Fla. Mar. 30, 2007); Martin v. Meadowbrook Gold Group, No. 3:06-cv-00464 (N.D. Fla. Nov. 2, 2006); Brewer v. LCM Med., No. 05-61741, 2006 U.S. Dist. Lexis 96865 (S.D. Fla. May 25, 2006); Wesley-Parker v. The Keiser Sch., No. 3:05-cv-1068, 2006 U.S. Dist. Lexis 96870 (M.D. Fla. Aug. 21, 2006); Murray v. Hilton Hotels, No. 04-22059 (S.D. Fla. July 29, 2005); Jolley v. Phillips Educ. Group of Cent. Fla., No. 95-147-civ-ORL-22, 1996 U.S. Dist. Lexis 19832 (M.D. Fla. July 3, 1996); Paltridge v. Value Tech Realty Serv., No. 12-CA-000316 (Fla. 13th Cir. Ct. Dec. 18, 2012); Savage v. Value Tech Realty Serv., No. 11-014454 (Fla. 13th Cir. Ct. Nov. 20, 2012); McCole v. H&R Enterprises, LLC, No. 2012-30853-CICI(31) (Fla. 7th Cir. Ct. Sept. 14, 2012).

"pregnancy," and, in common parlance, "sex" does not encompass "pregnancy." That should be the end of this Court's inquiry.

If, however, this Court finds ambiguity in the statutory language, then the relevant chronology of events between 1964 and the present – which includes legislative enactments, the Supreme Court's 1976 decision in *General Electric Co. v. Gilbert*, Congressional enactment of the PDA, the First DCA's decision in *O'Loughlin*, and the Third DCA's decision in *Delva*, all followed by the Florida Legislature's *inaction* – reflects the Florida Legislature's intent *not* to bring pregnancy discrimination within the scope of the FCRA's prohibitions.

To a large extent, Delva ignores the relevant chronology of events and the Florida Legislature's silence and, instead, focuses on a strained interpretation of *federal* cases interpreting *federal law* (particularly *Gilbert*) and state cases interpreting *other states*' statutes to advance a theory that, under the FCRA, "pregnancy" equals "sex." Of course, the issue before this Court concerns interpretation of *Florida* law and the intent of the *Florida* Legislature, so Delva's focus is misplaced.

The U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Gilbert* does play a role in ascertaining the Florida Legislature's intent, but that role is limited to highlighting two important points: (i) that *Gilbert* held that "pregnancy" does not equal "sex"; and, more importantly, (ii) that the Florida Legislature remained silent and did not

amend the FCRA after Congress amended Title VII to overturn *Gilbert* by expressly defining "sex" as including "pregnancy." Neither liberal rules of statutory construction, nor the fact that the FCRA's predecessor may have been patterned after Title VII, have any impact on the Legislature's deafening silence in the thirty-five years that have elapsed since enactment of the PDA in 1978.

It is not this Court's role to do what the Florida Legislature so clearly has chosen *not* to do. Continental respectfully requests that this Court approve the Third DCA's ruling that pregnancy discrimination is not an unlawful employment practice under the FCRA.

ARGUMENT

A. <u>The Applicable Standard Of Review.</u>

The proper standard of review is *de novo*. *Florida Dept. of Revenue v. New* Sea Escape Cruises, Ltd., 894 So. 2d 954, 957 (Fla. 2005).

B. <u>The Plain Language Of The FCRA And Common Usage Of The Term</u> <u>"Sex" Reflect Legislative Intent To Define "Sex" As Limited To One's</u> <u>Gender – Male Or Female.</u>

1. The Rules Of Statutory Analysis.

Legislative intent dictates whether pregnancy discrimination is an unlawful employment practice under the FCRA. Here, inquiry into legislative intent begins and ends with the plain language of the statute. Delva, however, turns a blind eye to the FCRA's plain language, and instead endeavors to impute to the Florida Legislature, primarily through a strained analysis of *federal* cases interpreting a *federal* statute (Title VII) and state cases interpreting *other states*' statutes, an intent that is at-odds with the FCRA's plain language. In doing so, Delva bypasses the first (and determinative) step in discerning whether the Florida Legislature intended the term "sex" to encompass "pregnancy" under the FCRA.

This Court has established "rules" governing statutory analysis:

It is well settled that legislative intent is the polestar that guides a court's statutory construction analysis. See State v. Rife, 789 So.2d 288, 292 (Fla. 2001); McLaughlin v. State, 721 So.2d 1170, 1172 (Fla. 1998). In determining that intent, we have explained that "we look first to the statute's plain meaning." Moonlit Waters Apartments, Inc. v. Cauley, 666 So.2d 898, 900 (Fla. 1996). Normally, "[w]hen the language of the statute is clear and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for resorting to the rules of statutory interpretation and construction; the statute must be given its plain and obvious meaning." Holly v. Auld, 450 So.2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1984) (quoting A.R. Douglass, Inc., v. McRainey, 102 Fla. 1141, 137 So. 157, 159 (1931)).

Knowles v. Beverly Enterprises-Florida, Inc., 898 So. 2d 1, 5 (Fla. 2004); see also Joshua v. City of Gainesville, 768 So. 2d 432, 435 (Fla. 2000) ("When interpreting a statute and attempting to discern legislative intent, courts must first look at the actual language used in the statute.").

In Donato v. American Telephone and Telegraph, 767 So. 2d 1146 (Fla. 2000), this Court applied these fundamental rules to discern the meaning of the

term "marital status" under the FCRA.⁵ In doing so, this Court rejected a broad interpretation of "marital status" and instead adopted a narrow, "common usage" interpretation (as should be done for the term "sex").⁶ *Id.* at 1154-55 ("If we were to give the term a broader definition by requiring courts to consider the specific person to whom someone is married, we would be expanding the term beyond its common, ordinary use and would give meaning to the term that was not intended by the Legislature.").

Importantly, this Court recognized in *Donato* the concept of separation of powers and the appropriate roles for the judicial and legislative branches:

Had the Legislature intended to include the identity of an individual's spouse or bias against a spouse within the meaning of marital status for the purpose of expanding the scope of discriminatory practices, it certainly could have done so, and, of course, is free to do so after this decision.

Id. at 1155.

2. The Statutory Scheme, Its Plain Language, And Common Usage Of The Term "Sex".

a. The statutory scheme and its plain language.

⁶ Adopting a narrow, "common usage" interpretation, this Court rejected a construction supported by the Commission on Human Relations. *Id.* at 1153-54.

⁵ Like "sex," "marital status" is a protected classification under the FCRA, and like "sex," "marital status" is not defined in the FCRA. § 760.10(1), Fla. Stat. (2012). At issue in *Donato* was whether the term "marital status" should be broadly construed to include the identity and actions of one's spouse, or narrowly construed as limited to an individual's legal status as married, single, widowed, divorced, or separated. *Donato*, 767 So. 2d at 1148.

The FCRA expressly recites among its "general purposes" securing for individuals within the State of Florida "freedom from discrimination because of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, handicap, or marital status" § 760.01(2), Fla. Stat. (2012). By its terms, the FCRA "shall be construed according to the fair import of its terms and shall be liberally construed to further the general purposes stated in this section [760.01] . . . and the special purposes of the particular provision involved." Id. at § 760.01(3). Consistent with the statutory purpose of securing "freedom from discrimination," it is an "unlawful employment practice" under the FCRA for an employer "[t]o discharge . . . or otherwise to discriminate against any individual . . . because of such individual's race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, handicap, or marital status." Id. at \S 760.10(1)(a). The statute provides administrative and civil remedies for individuals aggrieved by unlawful employment practices. Id. at § 760.11.

The FCRA is clear and unambiguous with respect to its scope of coverage. By its express terms, the FCRA extends to eight protected classes. Pregnancy is not among them. Enlargement of the FCRA's scope beyond the eight enumerated classes would amount to an "abrogation of legislative power." *Holly v. Auld*, 450 So. 2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1984); *Donato*, 767 So. 2d at 1155 (recognizing that expanding the definition of "marital status" beyond its common, ordinary purpose "would give meaning to the term that was not intended by the Legislature.").

The plain language of the FCRA does not support a reading of "sex" that encompasses "pregnancy." In fact, the FCRA contains a "definitions" section, but the Florida Legislature has chosen *not* to define the term "sex." § 760.02, Fla. Stat. (2012). In contrast, the Florida Legislature *has* defined the term "national origin" -- one of the eight enumerated classes -- as including "ancestry." *Id.* at § 760.01(2). If the Legislature had intended to include pregnancy discrimination among the FCRA's unlawful employment practices, then the Legislature would have defined the term "sex" as including "pregnancy," just as the Legislature defined the term "national origin" as including "ancestry" (and just as Congress has defined the term "sex" as including "pregnancy," as explained in § C(4) *infra*).

b. Protection afforded pregnant women by the Florida Legislature in *other* civil rights statutes.

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